IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-000674

RECEIVED

JAN 02 2018

SC Court of Appeals

Lahitsha Hampton,

Respondent,

v.

George Edward Willoughby, Richard
Mann, & William Sherman,

Defendants,

OF WHOM:

William Sherman is the

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew C. LaFave
CROWE LAFAVE, LLC
Post Office Box 1149
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 724-5727
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-000674

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Prevent Entry of Default or, in the Alternative, for Relief From Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCP Rule 55?
2. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant's Motion to Stay Enforcement of a Judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 11, 2015 Respondent, Lahitsha Hampton, filed suit against each of the above Defendants alleging negligence stemming from a motor vehicle accident against Defendants Mann and Willoughby with a separate claim for Negligent Entrustment against Appellant. Respondent, on March 24, 2016, moved for an Entry of Default as to Appellant contending he was personally served at 36 Lisa Drive in Greenville, South Carolina, on December 14, 2015, though no Answer was filed within the requisite thirty (30) days. Appellant, on June 1, 2016, filed a Motion to Prevent Entry of Default or, in the Alternative, for Relief from Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCP 55(c) (R. pp. 10-12), which was heard by The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin on July 28, 2016 in Greenville, South Carolina. After hearing oral arguments and taking the matter under advisement, Judge Verdin issued an Order Denying Appellant's Motion (R. pp. 1-3). Of significance, as of the date of the Hearing, Defendant Mann was also in default and Defendant Willoughby had only just filed an Answer on July 13, 2016. Moreover, on October 7, 2016, an Order was filed setting aside default as to Defendant Mann.

Following the entry of the foregoing Order by Judge Verdin, Appellant filed subsequent motions including the other that forms the basis for this appeal, which was the Motion to Stay Enforcement of a Judgment. In response to the entry of a Default Judgment on October 17, 2016, Appellant filed a Motion to Stay Enforcement of a Judgment pursuant to Rules 54(b), 62(b), and 62(h), SCRCP. Judge Verdin heard Appellant's Motion on November 1, 2016, and later issued, on November 9, 2016, a Form 4 Order denying Appellant's Motion (R. pp. 4-6) without a

detailed ruling. Finally, on November 17, 2016, Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration (R. pp. 41-47) of the Court's ruling, which was not decided until February 17, 2017. The instant appeal follows.

FACTS

On or about March 30, 2015, Plaintiff was driving a 2007 Ford northbound on East Stone Avenue near the intersection of Spartanburg Street. Defendant, Richard Mann, was traveling southbound on East Stone Avenue in a 2006 Mini Cooper near the aforementioned intersection of Spartanburg Street. Defendant, George Edward Willoughby, was also traveling southbound on East Stone Avenue in a 1973 Chevy, which was owned by Appellant. Mr. Willoughby was slowing to make a left turn onto Spartanburg Street when his vehicle was struck from behind causing it to enter the northbound lane of East Stone Avenue resulting in the collision with Respondent's vehicle. Appellant was not present at the scene and is only involved in this instant suit by virtue of his ownership of the 1973 Chevy.

Respondent contends that she sustained numerous injuries including a concussion requiring medical treatment.

Respondent alleges Appellant was negligent under the numerous theories including, family purpose doctrine, negligent entrustment, bailor/bailee, lessor/lessee, employer/employee, master/servant, principal/agent; including any ostensible or apparent agency relationships, contractual relationships, corporate relationships, family and/or other relationships including business relationships.

ARGUMENT

1. Appellant's original motion requesting entry of default be set-aside should have been granted on the ground that Appellant established the "good cause" contemplated by the South

Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and met the rigors of the *Wham* factors warranting relief. Appellant can and did show the motion to set-aside was timely, Appellant can show he has a meritorious defense to the claim against him, and Respondent would suffer no prejudice should the court grant the requested relief.

Rule 55(c), SCRCPP requires a party moving to have an entry of default vacated to present “good cause” for such an action to be undertaken. In *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Industries, Inc.*, the Court noted, “‘good cause’ requires the party to provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation would serve the interests of justice.” 383 S.C. 601, 607, 681 S.E.2d 885, 888 (2009). Once a showing of good cause has been made, the party seeking relief must also withstand the rigor of the test established in *Wham v. Shearson Lehman Bros., Inc.*, 298 S.C. 462, 381 S.E.2d 499 (Ct. App. 1989). According to *Wham*, the Court must consider “(1) the timing of the motion for relief; (2) whether the defendant has a meritorious defense; (3) the degree of prejudice to the plaintiff if relief is granted.” *Id.*, 298 S.C. at 465.

Here, the nature of the accident and the Appellant’s lack of involvement therein is at the very core of the argument that good cause exists for vacating the entry of default. It is undisputed that on or about March 30, 2015, Appellant’s automobile was being driven by Defendant Willoughby on Stone Avenue when Defendant Mann struck it from behind while he was waiting to complete a left turn. Appellant was **not in the vehicle** and had **no knowledge** that the individual behind the wheel was driving the vehicle in the location it was at the time of the accident. The only nexus between Appellant and the accident or resulting lawsuit was the fact that a vehicle he owned was involved. This lack of involvement in the accident created significant confusion for Appellant believing it was a mistake that he could be involved in a lawsuit. The Complaint is so ill pleaded, lacking supporting facts, that Appellant could not and

does not understand the basic facts to explain the cause of action against him. Furthermore, Appellant had never previously been sued rendering him so unfamiliar with the process and the complicated motor vehicle laws in play that he did not forward the Summons and Complaint to his insurance company for a timely defense. Based on Appellant's complete absence from the scene and his lack of understanding of the claims against him, Appellant has established the "good cause" necessary for further inquiry into the appropriateness of vacating the entry of default.

As established in *Sundown*, Appellant next must show why vacating the entry of default would serve the interests of justice. Respondent has brought this suit against Appellant under the exclusive theory of negligent entrustment. Specifically, Respondent contends that Appellant is liable for Defendant Willoughby's negligence through the family purpose doctrine, negligent entrustment, bailor/bailee, lessor/lessee, employee/employer, master/servant, principal/agent and with a list of other relationships as a catchall. Appellant submits to this Court that vacating the entry of default would not only serve the interests of justice but to not set-aside would be to effectuate a grave injustice against Appellant. In support, Appellant contends that this Court should look no further than the Complaint. The Complaint lists numerous obscure theories of recovery under the claim for negligent entrustment but is wholly devoid of any substantive factual allegations to support a viable cause of action under the law. For example, Plaintiff includes a theory of the Family Purpose Doctrine yet asserts no allegation(s) as to the nature of the familial relationship between Appellant and Defendant Willoughby. Additionally, Plaintiff references employee/employer, master/servant, and principal/agent yet the Complaint includes no facts or allegations to support such claims.

Finally, it is well settled in South Carolina that Rule 55(c) “should be liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits.” *Melton v. Olenik*, 379 S.C. 45, 54, 664 S.E.2d 487, 492 (Ct. App. 2008). The principal espoused by this Court in *Melton* applies very clearly to matters such as the instant case. Appellant, as indicated herein, contends that the promotion of justice demands the entry of default be set aside in accordance with Rule 55(c) given the current posture of this suit against other defendants and the glaring deficiencies of the Complaint. First and foremost, justice would best be served by affording Appellant the opportunity to defend the negligent entrustment claim against him as the Complaint lacks any allegations necessary to maintain such a claim such that it could not even withstand a challenge under Rule 12(b)(6), for failing to assert facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action. The Summons and Complaint served upon Appellant simply references causes of action by name but fails to provide factual allegations constituting a cause of action. Setting aside default unequivocally serves the interests of judgment in this matter as it permits Appellant to defend an otherwise meritless claim. The element for a meritorious defense is sagely included in this analysis for a reason and there could be no better set of circumstances warranting relief. A failure to vacate this default judgment disregards the promotion of justice especially where another Defendant’s default has been set aside under far less persuasive circumstances.

Once the *Sundown* elements have been satisfied the Court must next assess the factors established in *Wham*. First, Appellant must show the motion for relief from default was timely. *Wham v. Lehman Bros.*, 298 S.C. at 465. Here, the Affidavit of Service produced by Respondent indicates service was made personally on Appellant, despite his lack of recollection, on December 14, 2015. However, despite the assertion that service was perfected on the foregoing date no effort was undertaken to obtain an entry of default on behalf of Respondent until March

22, 2016, with such entry being filed on March 24, 2016. Appellant's insurance carrier was not made aware of this litigation until May 17, 2016, at which time counsel was immediately retained and the process for having the entry of default vacated commenced. The Motion to Prevent Entry of Default or, in the Alternative, for Relief From Entry of Default Pursuant to SCRCRCP Rule 55 was subsequently filed on June 1, 2016 (R. pp. 10-12). At no point prior to the submission of the foregoing motion had counsel or Appellant's insurance carrier been notified of the suit against him or the default status such that the instant motion was timely filed.

The second element of the *Wham* factors is whether there exists a meritorious defense. *Id.* As previously mentioned, Defendant submits that a litany of theories have been asserted in an attempt to ensnare him in an action to which he otherwise has no connection. Taking the allegations simply at face value Appellant submits that the Complaint cannot withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion for failure to state a cause of action for which relief can be granted. The only theory upon which Respondent could realistically build a claim against Appellant, based upon the allegations and a liberal interpretation thereof, would be negligent entrustment. However, Respondent simply blindly asserts, presumably because Defendant Willoughby was the driver, that Appellant "provided" the vehicle to Defendant Willoughby without any factual basis for this assertion. Appellant unequivocally denies any assertion that he "provided" the vehicle to Defendant Willoughby or in any other way directly authorized or permitted him to drive said vehicle on March 30, 2015.

Moreover, no factual allegations are made necessary to satisfy any of the elements to sustain a claim for negligent entrustment. As recently as 2007 in *Gadson ex rel. Gadson v. ECO Services of South Carolina, Inc.*, the Supreme Court declined to adopt Sections 308 and 390 of Restatement (Second) of Torts thereby standing pat on the existing requirements for a negligent

entrustment cause of action to proceed. 374 S.C. 171, 648 S.E.2d 585 (2007). Specifically, “the elements of negligent entrustment are (1) knowledge of or knowledge imputable to the owner that the driver was either addicted to intoxicants or had the habit of drinking; (2) the owner knew or had imputable knowledge that the driver was likely to drive while intoxicated; and (3) under these circumstances, the entrustment of a vehicle by the owner to such a driver.” *Id.*, 374 S.C. at 176. Respondent has no evidence, as none exists, that she would be able to satisfy any one, let alone all of the required elements to sustain a negligent entrustment claim. Therefore, a meritorious defense is certainly present in this case as Defendant Willoughby was not asserted to be nor was he arrested and/or convicted of operating this vehicle while intoxicated.

Finally, Appellant must show that Respondent will suffer no prejudice if the entry of default is vacated. *Wham*, 298 S.C. at 465. Appellant submits that when the instant motion was filed Defendant Willoughby had not yet been served with the Complaint such that the litigation had not even begun in earnest. Moreover, at no point during the pendency of the motion had any party engaged in discovery such that the case was, at a minimum, more than a year from a possible trial date. Specifically, Appellant points to the fact that Respondent had, only on May 26, 2016, begun the process for serving Defendant Willoughby by publication with Defendant Willoughby, on July 13, 2016, having filed his Answer. Moreover, Defendant Mann remained in default as of the date of the hearing on Appellant’s motion, though the entry of default against him was subsequently vacated nearly one (1) month later. Therefore, the case, despite the timing of the suit being filed, remains in its relative infancy with the litigation only beginning in earnest as of the date of Defendant Willoughby’s Answer. Moreover, there has been no formal discovery completed and there exists no readily apparent risk that the delay has led to the loss of evidence or inability to locate witnesses. Vacating the entry of default against Appellant would not

compromise, alter, or otherwise affect the timely adjudication of this matter. Therefore, in light of the status of the underlying litigation at the time of Appellant's motion, there would have been no delay in the adjudication of Respondent's claims. Given the absence of any interruption in litigation of this matter, there can be no prejudice to Respondent in the vacating of the entry of default.

2. Secondly, Appellant contends, in the alternative, that enforcement of the judgment entered against him should be stayed, pursuant to Rules 54(b) and 62(b), SCRCP.

The trial court refused to relieve Appellant from default rendering the allegations against him admitted for purposes of liability. However, this judgment remains inconsistent where Appellant's liability is **contingent** upon a finding of negligence on the part of the driver of his automobile, George Edward Willoughby. Defendant Willoughby steadfastly denies liability and the allegations against him remain contested in litigation. Therefore, enforcement of a default judgment at this time is not only premature but may result in an outcome entirely inconsistent with the future adjudication of this suit.

Rule 54(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides guidance for this scenario where "more than one claim for relief is presented in an action" permitting entry of a judgment against "one or more but fewer than all of the claims or parties." However, in matters where only partial claims are adjudicated "the order or other form of decision is subject to revision at any time before the entry of judgment adjudicating all the claims and the rights and liabilities of all the parties." Rule 62(b) expressly contemplates the precise scenario at bar providing "[w]hen a court has ordered a final judgment under the conditions stated in Rule 54(b), the court may stay the enforcement of that judgment until the entering of a subsequent judgment or judgments."