THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-000674

RECEIVED

NOV 06 2017

SC Court of Appeals

Lahitsha Hampton,

Respondent,

v.

George Edward Willoughby,
Richard Mann & William Sherman,

Defendants,

OF WHOM:

William Sherman is the

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brian T. Smith
Law Office of Brian T. Smith
714 Pettigru Street
Greenville, SC 29615
864-239-2007
ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was untimely, as it was filed more than thirty (30) days after final entry of the judgment against him.

- II. The Court properly denied Appellant's Motion to Prevent Entry of Default or in the Alternative, for Relief from entry of default as Appellant failed to meet the "good cause" standard of SCRCP Rule 55.

- III. The Court properly denied Appellant's Motion to Stay enforcement of a Judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts underlying the case at bar involve a complex collision that took place on March 30, 2015. Respondent has alleged in her well plead Complaint that she was traveling northbound on East Stone Avenue near Spartanburg Street when George Edward Willoughby, in Appellant's vehicle, after a separate impact with Richard Mann, collided with her vehicle. Respondent filed said Complaint on December 11, 2015. Brian Garrett, of SC Process Service, served Appellant personally with the Summons and Complaint on December 15, 2015. Later that same afternoon, Appellant contacted The Law Office of Brian T. Smith and asked what he needed to do with the papers he received. An attorney at the office, Christina Bradford, returned his phone call the next day and told him to contact his insurance company regarding the papers. After the requisite days elapsed with no response from Appellant, Respondent filed an affidavit seeking an order of default as to Appellant and Richard Mann. The affidavit was filed on February 26, 2016, with an Order of Default signed on March 22, 2016, and filed March 24, 2016. Appellant then filed a Motion for Relief from Default on June 1, 2016, with a hearing set before Judge Verdin on July 28, 2016. During the hearing, Judge Verdin denied Appellant's motion. At Appellant's request, and with Respondent's consent, Judge Verdin continued the damages hearing set for July 28, 2016, in order to provide Appellant with time to discuss settlement of the matter. Instead of contacting Respondent with regards to settlement, Appellant filed a motion to stay default proceedings before the court on September 15, 2016, seeking to further delay his responsibility for Respondent's damages. On October 3, 2016, Judge Stillwell denied Appellant's motion, noting that Appellant was presenting defenses that were foreclosed to him due to his default and allowed Respondent to proceed to assess damages as to Appellant. Additionally, Judge Stillwell's Order granting damages specifically designates the judgment as applying to only Appellant and his

culpability for the collision giving rise to Respondent's Complaint. The Order provided for a Judgment as to Appellant for actual damages in the amount of \$30,000.00. A subsequently filed Motion for Reconsideration with regards to said order was denied by Judge Stillwell on October 19, 2016. On October 8, 2016, Appellant filed another Motion, this time seeking to stay enforcement of the judgment. His motion was denied on November 9, 2016. Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration on November 17, 2016, which was denied February 17, 2017.

ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Trial Court because Appellant has failed to show that the Trial Court abused its discretion in finding that he failed to demonstrate “good cause” for failing to timely respond to Plaintiff’s Complaint. The decision to set aside default “is within the discretion of the trial judge and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *N.H. Ins. Co. v. The Bey Corp.*, 312 S.C. 47, 435 S.E.2d 377, 379 (Ct. App. 1993); see *Dixon v. Besco Eng’g, Inc.*, 320 S.C. 174, 463 S.E.2d 636 (Ct. App. 1995). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court ruling is based on an error of law or is without evidentiary support. *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (S.C. 2000). In the case at bar, however, Appellant has failed to show an abuse of discretion and the Trial Court should be affirmed.

I. Appellant’s Notice of Appeal was untimely, as it was filed more than thirty (30) days after entry of the judgment against him.

Respondent, as an initial matter, would assert that Appellant’s appeal should be dismissed as he failed to file his Notice of Appeal within thirty days of receipt of notice of entry of the judgment/order. South Carolina Rule of Appellate Procedure 203(b)(1) requires that a notice of appeal be served within thirty days after receiving written notice of entry of a final judgment or order and failure to do so divests this court of subject matter jurisdiction and results in dismissal of the appeal.” *Canal Ins. Co. v. Caldwell*, 338 S.C. 1, 4, 524 S.E.2d 416, 418 (Ct.App.1999). “The requirement of service of the notice of appeal is jurisdictional, *i.e.*, if a party misses the deadline, the appellate court lacks jurisdiction to consider the appeal and has no authority or discretion to ‘rescue’ the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 14-15, 602 S.E.2d 772, 775 (2004); USAA Prop. & Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg, 377 S.C. 643, 651, 661 S.E.2d 791, 795 (2008).

However, in the current action, Appellant failed to file his notice of appeal until thirty days after receiving a final order denying his motion for reconsideration as to his Motion to Stay Enforcement of the Default Judgment under Rule 54(b)/62(h). That motion does not address any of the materials or assertions in Judge Verdin's July 28th order; thus, it does not extend his time for filing of a notice of appeal. It is well established that a Rule 55(c) motion is not immediately appealable; however, it is appealable after entry of a damages award, which happened in the above case on October 17, 2016. Furthermore, Appellant filed the Motion to Stay Enforcement on October 8, 2016, prior to written entry of the Order Granting Damages. To now submit to the Court that this motion related back to the damages award and prior Order keeping him in default is thus inconsistent with the record. As such, in the case at bar, the notice of appeal should have been filed within thirty days of receiving the Order Granting Damages as to Defendant Sherman, filed October 17, 2016. In evaluating a motion, it is important to review its substance and effect rather than its caption. *See Mickle v. Blackmon*, 255 S.C. 136, 177 S.E.2d 548 (S.C. 1970); *see also Cape Romain Contractors, Inc. v. Wando E., LLC*, 405 S.C. 115, 747 S.E.2d 461 (S.C. 2013). Appellant's motion not only fails to mention "reconsideration" of the entry of the judgment, it also fails to substantive request reconsideration or alteration by the court of its decision regarding Appellant's liability for Respondent's damages. Instead, it focuses on assertions regarding derivative liability. These assertions do not affect the lack of "good cause" determination by the Court and is not something that was specifically brought up or ruled upon in front of the Court, both of which are required to bring the matter properly before this Court. In light of Appellant's failure to file his Notice of Appeal within thirty days of entry of the damages award against him, Respondent would request that Appellant's appeal be dismissed as untimely or clarified to only

include the denial of his Motion to Stay Enforcement of a Judgment. Respondent will address the substantive matters of the appeal in the interest of judicial economy.

II. The Court properly denied Appellant's Motion to Prevent Entry of Default or in the Alternative, for Relief from entry of default as Appellant failed to meet the "good cause" standard of SCRCP Rule 55.

The Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Appellant failed to meet the "good cause" standard for relief required by SCRCP Rule 55. A motion for relief under SOUTH CAROLINA RULES OF CIVIL Procedure Rule 55(c) requires the party presenting the motion, in this case, Appellant, to present to the court "good cause" for vacating his entry of default. Once "good cause" is established, a Defendant still must meet the *Wham* factors in order to justify setting aside an entry of default. See *Sundown Operating Co. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 601, 681 S.E.2d 885, (S.C. 2009); *Wilder v. Blue Ribbon Taxicab Corp.*, 396 S.C. 139, 719 S.E.2d 703 (S.C. Ct. App. 2011); see also *White Oak Manor, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co.*, 407 S.C. 1, 12, 753 S.E.2d 537, 543 (S.C. 2014) (describing the standard as two pronged: first requiring an explanation for the default and why setting aside the default would serve the interests of justice, and second present evidence with regards to the factors set forth in *Wham*). Further a finding of fact as to each factor is not necessary on the record so long as there is sufficient evidentiary support on the record for finding the Defendant lacked good cause. *Dixon v. Besco Eng'g Inc.*, 463 S.E.2d 636 (S.C. Ct. App. 1995). Judge Verdin ruled that Respondent failed to meet the "good cause" standard, indicating that:

This is a situation where Mr. Sherman was personally served and they've got a witness who is here live to testify, if necessary. And I certainly believe that he would testify that he personally served [Sherman]. They have a call log that they have kept timely with phone calls, which is an excellent thing to do, in which Mr. Sherman, at least, knew enough of the seriousness of [being served with papers] to call the attorney on the other side. There's a witness here who evidently would say

that she told him he should call his insurance company. All that being said, I do not find that Mr. Sherman has provided good cause for his failing to forward this on to you.

Transcript of Proceedings from July 28, 2016, at 20–21 (alterations added).

A. *Appellant has failed to show that the Court abused its discretion in finding that he failed to show “good cause” to set aside entry of default pursuant to Rule 55(c)*

The record reveals the necessary evidence showing that Appellant failed to meet his initial burden for relief under Rule 55(c), a showing of “good cause.” The “good cause” standard requires that a party seeking relief from an entry of default must “provide an explanation for the default and give reasons why vacation of the default would serve the interest of justice.” *Sundown*, 681 S.E.2d at 888. In the case at bar, Appellant failed to do so. His only explanation regarding his default was first that he was never served and later that he was so unfamiliar with matters that he did not know what to do when served with papers. Appellant no longer denies that he was personally served; instead, he cites to unfamiliarity with the process as his “good cause” for failing to respond. South Carolina case law, however, specifically rejects unfamiliarity as grounds for “good cause.” *See Hill v. Dotts*, 345 S.C. 304, 310, 547 S.E.2d 894 (Ct. App. 2001) (finding lack of familiarity with legal proceedings no a proper excuse; laymen are held to the same standard as that of an attorney); *see also McCall v. Ikon*, 611 S.E.2d 315, 317–18 (S.C. 2 005) (holding that a suit at law is not a children’s game, “but a serious effort on the part of adult human beings to administer justice”). Additionally, evidence was presented to the trial court that Appellant contacted Plaintiff’s counsel on the date of service inquiring into what he should do with the papers. The evidence and testimony presented to the Court established that Appellant was instructed to contact his insurance company. Thus, the Trial Court properly found that Appellant

failed to provide “good cause” for his failure to respond to Respondent’s Summons and Complaint, (Transcript of Proceedings from July 28, 2016, at 17 through 18).

Additionally, the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that Appellant failed to present that his request for relief was in the interest of justice. Respondent would allege that there is support in the record that it is in the interest of justice to hold Appellant accountable for his decision to ignore the Summons and Complaint after they were personally served upon him in December of 2015. Even more egregious about Appellant’s failure to respond to the Summons and Complaint in question is that he was informed by counsel for Respondent to contact his insurance company about the paperwork he received. Thus, the Trial Court properly found that Appellant failed to meet his initial burden of showing “good cause” for setting aside his entry of default.

B. Appellant has failed to show that the Trial Court abused its discretion with regards to his failure to meet the Wham factors.

The record reveals that the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in finding that Appellant failed to show how the *Wham* factors entitled him to relief under Rule 55(c). In fact, The Court ruled that Appellant’s failure to meet the “good cause” standard acted as a bar to evaluating his motion under the *Wham* factors. Thus, Respondent would assert that they should not be evaluated in determining if she abused her discretion in denying Appellant’s Motion. However, to ensure completeness of the record and of the evidence presented at the Trial Court level, Respondent will address how the *Wham* factors weigh in favor of Respondent, not Appellant. The factors include the timeliness of the motion for relief, the existence of a meritorious defense, and the prejudice to the parties.

In the case at bar, Appellant's motion was filed one hundred and sixty-nine days (169) after he was personally served with the Summons and Complaint. He did not comply with the SCRCR Rule 12(A) deadline to answer Respondent's Summons and Complaint by almost a month at the time default was sought by Respondent. In *Sundown*, the South Carolina Supreme Court affirmed a denial of a defendant's request for relief where it moved to set aside the default less than a month after the deadline to answer passed, unlike the five months that lapsed in the case at bar. See *Sundown Operating Co., Inc. v. Intedge Indus., Inc.*, 681 S.E.2d 885, 889 (2009). Thus, the untimely nature of Appellant's Motion weighed in favor of denying his motion.

As to the existence of a meritorious defense, The Court specifically found on the record that "there may or may not" be a meritorious defense. Appellant's allegations of a meritorious defense seem to be that Appellant's negligent entrustment of his vehicle did not include the abuse of alcohol by George Willoughby. Additionally, it appears that Appellant is now asserting in his initial brief that he did not permit Willoughby to drive his vehicle even though this assertion is contrary to the record in this matter and the joint representation of the parties to date. Nevertheless, Appellant has not met his burden of showing a clear error of law as to the Court's holding regarding meritorious defense. Specifically, his assertion ignores an entire line of South Carolina cases addressing negligent entrustment *without* the existence of alcohol. See *Jones ex rel. Jones v. Enterprise Leasing Co.-Se.*, 383 S.C. 259, 266, 678 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 2009). Therefore,

the Court should not be persuaded by Appellant's misappropriated argument attempting to apply alcohol related requirements to non-alcohol related accidents as grounds for his meritorious defense.¹

As to the third *Wham* factor, there is evidence in the record to support that Respondent would be prejudiced if Appellant's motion was granted. As is established in the record, Respondent filed suit on December 11, 2015, after experiencing her injuries and after attempts to resolve the matter otherwise stalled. She would certainly be prejudiced to now have to begin the process again, if Appellant were let out of default. It has been almost two years since suit was filed. To date, no discovery as to Appellant has been conducted and no further investigation of the claim has happened. Thus, to set aside entry of default at this juncture would add significant time to what has already amounted to a very long wait for Appellant. She presented on the record before the trial court that due to a concussion that she suffered as a result of the collision, that she continues to have memory issues, which brings into question her ability to participate in continued discovery and depositions on the matter. It is undisputed that the longer a case is delayed the more difficult it becomes to find documents, secure witnesses with a clear memory of the event, and properly litigate a case through discovery. As such, the undue delay caused completely by

¹ See *Jones ex rel. Jones v. Enterprise Leasing Co. – Se.*, 383 S.C. 259, 266, 678 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 2009); see also *Am. Mut. Fire Ins. Co. v. Passmore*, 275 S.C. 618, 621, 274 S.E.2d 416, 418 (S.C. 1981) (finding the elements to prove negligent entrustment different in cases where alcohol is not the “responsibility” factor, instead adopting the factors of (1) ownership of the vehicle; (2) control of the vehicle; (3) responsibility for the vehicle’s use). There is no indication in *Gadson* that the Court intended to disregard and replace the elements set forth in *Passmore*. Indeed, *Passmore* is still good law in this state and is not limited by the cases involving alcohol and bound to the *Gadson* elements. See *Becker v. Estes Express Lines*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 20400 (“the court agrees with the Plaintiff, that the South Carolina Supreme Court did not overrule the definition of negligent entrustment found in *Passmore* in its entirety” because *Gadson* alleged intoxication as the basis for the negligent entrustment claim).

Appellant has the significant threat of prejudicing the Respondent, who will likely not be able to obtain the same discovery she would have a year ago.

Additionally, Respondent's credit has been affected by the medical bills and other expenses she incurred as a result of the collision in question. Therefore, any further delay in this case simply puts her further away from the financial resources she is entitled to, as a result of her injuries from a collision that occurred through no fault of her own. Appellant also presented evidence that she would be prejudiced as she spent six months and not insubstantial funds to serve Appellant and move the case as allowed under the rules.

In light of the above, Respondent would assert that the Court did not abuse its discretion in ruling that Appellant failed to meet his burden under Rule 55(c) to show "good cause" and that even if the *Wham* factors were evaluated, they would weigh in favor of Respondent.

III. The Court properly denied Appellant's Motion to Stay enforcement of a Judgment